No. 70657-8-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

DOUG AND BETH O'NEILL, individuals,

Plaintiffs/Respondent,

v.

CITY OF SHORELINE, a Washington municipal corporation, and DEPUTY MAYOR MAGGIE FIMIA, individually and in her official capacity,

Defendants/Appellants.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

CITY OF SHORELINE

Ian Sievers, WSBA No. 6723 Ramsey Ramerman, WSBA No. 30423 Attorneys for Respondent City of Shoreline 17500 Midvale Avenue North Shoreline, WA 98113 Telephone: (206) 801-2223 Facsimile: (206) 546-2200

1. INTRODUCTION

The City of Shoreline ("City") made a technical error regarding the production of metadata and has already been held accountable for its mistake, even though it only resulted in the loss of purely technical information not apparent on the face of the email and not used by the City.¹ Because the Public Records Act mandates strict compliance,² the City has paid \$100,000 in penalties for its mistake and that award is not at issue.

Instead, this appeal involves the O'Neills' legal mistake that they made after the trial court entered the agreed "Judgment on Offer and Acceptance" awarding the O'Neills \$100,000. Once this judgment was entered, CR 54(d)(2) required the O'Neills to file their attorney fee motion "no later than 10 days after entry of judgment." The failure to meet this deadline serves to waive the party's right to attorney fees unless a motion is granted to extend that deadline after a showing of "excusable neglect".³

¹ See generally O'Neill v. City of Shoreline, 170 Wn.2d 138, 240 P.3d 1149 (2010) (O'Neill II) and O'Neill v. City of Shoreline, 145 Wn. App. 913, 187 P.3d 822 (2008) (O'Neill I), aff'd 170 Wn.2d 138 (2010).

² Zink v. City of Mesa, 140 Wn. App. 328, 340, 166 P.3d 738 (2007)

³ Corey v. Pierce County, 154 Wn. App. 752, 773-74, 225 P.3d 367 (2010) (holding successful plaintiff in wrongful termination lawsuit waived the right to attorney fees by missing the 10-day deadline in CR 54(d)(2), when the failure was based on the attorney's erroneous legal determination that the court rule did not apply).

The O'Neills' mistake stemmed from their attorney's legal determination that the 10-day deadline did not apply, despite the plain language of CR 54(d)(2). Thus, they waited for over two weeks past the deadline to file their motion for fees. The City objected, but the O'Neills never sought an enlargement of time to file the late motion, and the trial court ignored the O'Neills' legal error and entered the attorney fee award.

In this appeal, the City seeks relief from this attorney fee award, based on the O'Neills' legal mistake made in the face of an unambiguous deadline in the court rules. This does not require a harsh interpretations of the court rules – unlike the PRA, the Court Rules have a mistake valve built in for missed deadlines, CR 6(b)(2). This rule gives a trial court limited discretion to extend a deadline after it has been missed, but only when the party files a motion and demonstrates "excusable neglect."

The O'Neills, however, never filed a CR 6(b)(2) motion and as a matter of law would not have been entitled to an extension even if they had sought one. This is because as a matter of law, their attorney's legal mistake cannot qualify as "excusable neglect." This is not only compelled by existing case law, but the conclusion is essential if the deadlines in the court rules are to have any meaning. If the trial court's ruling is allowed to stand, it will undercut all court deadlines any time an attorney asserts the error was caused by a legal mistake, even one already rejected by the Supreme Court in a published opinion.

Thus, the City asks the Court to strike the attorney fee award and rule as a matter of law that the O'Neills' erroneous legal determination that they did not need to comply with the CR 54(d)(2) deadline results in a waiver of their right to attorney fees.

2. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

2.1 The trial court erred by considering the O'Neills' attorney fee motion when the O'Neills missed the deadline for filing that motion and never filed a motion seeking to enlarge the time authorized for filing the motion.

2.2 The trial court erred in granting the award of attorney fees and entering judgment for those fees when the O'Neills did not file their attorney fee motion in a timely manner.

2.3 The trial court erred in granting the award of attorney fees and entering judgment for those fees when the O'Neills did not establish that excusable neglect justified an extension of time to file their attorney fee motion.

2.4 The trial court erred in determining the agreed "Judgment on Offer and Acceptance" was not a judgment that triggered CR 54(d)(2).

2.5 The trial court erred in not granting the City's motion for reconsideration and not vacating its attorney fee award.

3. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

3.1 Summary of the Underlying Dispute

3.1.1 Events Leading to Public Records Lawsuit

This dispute arose when former Shoreline City Councilmember Maggie Fimia received an unsolicited email sent to her personal email account on September 18, 2006.⁴ This email forwarded another email sent on behalf of Beth O'Neill on September 14, 2006.⁵ The email was sent via blind carbon copy to Ms. Fimia and others, including another Shoreline councilmember serving at the time, Janet Way.⁶

Although the email had been sent to her personal email account, Ms. Fimia chose to discuss the email at the city council meeting on the night of September 18.⁷ The courts have agreed that this action made the email a public record, including its metadata.⁸

After Ms. Fimia mentioned this email, the plaintiff Beth O'Neill's asked to see a copy of that email.⁹ On September 25, Ms. Fimia forwarded a "complete" and "unaltered" copy of the email to the City Attorney, and the City produced a printed copy of the unaltered email to

⁴ O'Neill II, 170 Wn.2d at 142.

⁵ O'Neill II, 170 Wn.2d at 141-42.

⁶ O'Neill II, 170 Wn.2d at 142.

⁷ O'Neill II, 170 Wn.2d at 142.

⁸ O'Neill I, 145 Wn. App. at 924; O'Neill II, 170 Wn.2d at 156 (Alexander, J., dissenting).

⁹ O'Neill II, 170 Wn.2d at 142.

Ms. O'Neill that same day.¹⁰ As the Supreme Court noted, by producing the full email string, the City then fully complied with Ms. O'Neill's oral request.¹¹

After receiving the complete printed email, Ms. O'Neill made a new request on the 25th for the email "with metadata."¹² At some point prior to being informed about the request for metadata, Ms. Fimia had deleted her copy of the email.¹³ Until they attempted to fulfill this request, neither Ms. Fimia nor the City employees processing the request were familiar with metadata and did not know that when an email is forwarded, it removes some computer generated metadata that is not otherwise apparent on the face of the email.¹⁴ As a result, the complete unaltered email Ms. Fimia had forwarded to the City Attorney was in fact altered by the email programs that forwarded the email, and the City did not receive all of the original metadata when Ms. Fimia forwarded it to the City.¹⁵

¹⁰ O'Neill II, 170 Wn.2d at 143. The original oral request caused confusion, particularly because of the nature of string emails and the fact that the forwarded email had been edited to remove the "to" line before it was sent to Ms. Fimia. See O'Neill I, 145 Wn. App. at 927 (reprinting the full email header of both emails, demonstrating that the "to" line from the Hettrick Sept. 14 email had been removed before it was sent to Fimia).

¹¹ O'Neill II, 170 Wn.2d at 151-52.

¹² O'Neill II, 170 Wn.2d at 143.

¹³ O'Neill II, 170 Wn.2d at 143.

¹⁴ See O'Neill II, 170 Wn.2d at 146, 151-52; O'Neill I, 145 Wn. App. at 927.

¹⁵ O'Neill II, 170 Wn.2d at 150-51.

Moreover, the City was not able to locate Ms. Fimia's deleted email copy on her personal computer.¹⁶

Nevertheless, because Councilmember Way had also received the same email, the City was able to provide O'Neill with the metadata associated with the Way copy of this same email.¹⁷ This was deemed insufficient because the metadata differed in that it reflected that the email had been sent to Ms. Way rather than Ms. Fimia, as would be expected.¹⁸

The City also had the email resent by the original sender to Ms. Fimia and then produced the metadata associated with the re-sent copy.¹⁹ This was also deemed insufficient because the metadata reflected that it had been resent on a different date and time than the original email, as would be expected.²⁰ Between these two copies of metadata and the printed version of the unaltered email, only hidden technical information was lost.²¹

- ¹⁶ O'Neill II, 170 Wn.2d at 150.
- ¹⁷ O'Neill II, 170 Wn.2d at 151.
- 18 O'Neill II, 170 Wn.2d at 151.
- ¹⁹ O'Neill II, 170 Wn.2d at 151.
- ²⁰ O'Neill II, 170 Wn.2d at 151.
- ²¹ See O'Neill II, 170 Wn.2d at 148.

3.2 Procedural Background

3.2.1 <u>The Supreme Court Reverses the Dismissal of the</u> O'Neills' Lawsuit

The O'Neills were dissatisfied and filed a PRA action against the City.²² This was summarily dismissed by the trial court, which found the City had produced all public records that the City possessed that the O'Neills had requested.²³ The O'Neills appealed and eventually the Supreme Court reversed the trial court, pointing to the technical differences between the three versions of the email the City had produced and directed the City to search Ms. Fimia's personal computer for the original email.²⁴

3.2.2 <u>The City Makes an Offer of Judgment after Losing</u> <u>a Summary Judgment Motion</u>

On remand, Ms. Fimia consented to a search of her computer hard drive, but no remnant of the deleted email was found. The parties then filed cross-motions for summary judgment. This resulted in a ruling that did not address the metadata issue at all, and instead found that the City had violated the PRA because it had not made a forensic copy of Ms. Fimia's personal computer upon the initial records request.²⁵ This

²² O'Neill II, 170 Wn.2d at 144.

²³ O'Neill II, 170 Wn.2d at 153.

²⁴ O'Neill II, 170 Wn.2d at 150-51.

²⁵ CP 27-29.

"error,"²⁶ the trial court ruled, mandated penalties under the PRA. The City sought review of this ruling²⁷, but at the same time on September 18, 2012 - six years after the city council meeting that gave birth to this dispute – the City made a CR 68 offer of judgment to the O'Neills for \$100,000. CP 57. The offer expressly excluded attorney fees, noting that attorney fees would be decided by the court after subsequent briefing. CP 57.

The O'Neills accepted the offer, with their attorney serving the City with a formal signed "Acceptance of Defendants' Offer of Judgment" on September 27, 2012.²⁸ CP 61. The acceptance of this offer of judgment resolved all issues regarding the alleged violations of the PRA that were before the Court. The City and O'Neills executed the proposed "Judgment on Offer and Acceptance," which the City filed the same day. CP 55-56. The O'Neills waived presentment. CP 56.

²⁶ This legal ruling is unsupportable, particularly in light of Ms. Fimia's Article I, Section 7 and Fourth Amendment rights. See O'Neill II, 170 Wn.2d at 155-56 (Alexander, J. dissenting) (noting councilmember's personal computer protected by constitutional right to privacy); O'Neill II, 170 Wn. at 150 n.4 (avoiding constitutional violation by noting the Court assumed councilmember would voluntarily allow city to search computer); Forbes v. City of Goldbar, 171 Wn. App. 857, 288 P.3d 356, 384 n.20 (2013) (noting constitutional issue, but not addressing it because persons agreed to search of personal computers and accounts). If the City had pursued this appeal and got the ruling reversed, it would put the City in the same position it had been when the case was first remanded by the Supreme Court. Accordingly, the City mooted the issue by making an offer of judgment avoid potential daily penalties from continuing.

²⁷ CP 30-40.

²⁸ The O'Neills' attorney sent an email on the 24th, a Friday, accepting the offer, but the signed acceptance was delivered the following Monday, the 27th.

On September 28, the day after the proposed judgment was filed, but prior to its entry by the Court, the City sought narrow discovery regarding the amount of attorney fees. CP 368, 495. The City sought discovery because from its past experience, attorneys filing fee motions often provide inadequate documentation, and when challenged in the response, documentation is submitted for the first time with a reply without opportunity to disprove or critique. CP 428. Discovery also put the O'Neills on notice of the quality of documentation the City expected to be filed with the fee motion. CP 428.

3.2.3 <u>The Trial Court Enters the Agreed "Judgment on</u> Offer and Acceptance"

On October 8, 2012, the Trial Court signed the agreed "Judgment on Offer and Acceptance" and delivered it to the clerk the next day for filing, in compliance with CR 58. CP 55-56, 514. The parties received a copy of the Judgment on October 11. CP 514. The City promptly mailed the O'Neills a \$100,000 check that they cashed on October 16. CP 514.

On October 29, 2012, the O'Neills served written responses to the discovery requests, but they refused to provide substantive answers to some interrogatories, asserting the City could answer the interrogatories by reviewing the attorney fee bill. The O'Neills did not, however, produce those bills, asserting the bills were privileged and stating that the

9-

bills would only be produced after a protective order was in place. CP 407.

3.2.4 <u>The O'Neills Choose to Ignore CR 54(d)(2) and File</u> an Untimely Attorney Fee Motion

The O'Neills then waited another full week to file their motion for fees on November 5, filing *after* the City notified the O'Neills of the missed deadline in a November 1 letter. CP 336-48, 418 Included with the untimely motion were copies of the O'Neills' attorney fees bills, which the O'Neills produced without a protective order, even though that they had refused to provide those same records one week earlier in response to the City's discovery. *Compare* CP 407 (October 29 discover responses where O'Neills refused to produced attorney fee bill absent a protective order) *with* CP 67-330 (declaration filed November 5 attaching all attorney fee bills without a protective order). Their motion did not address the missed CR 54(d)(2) deadline.

The City objected to the filing as untimely under CR 54(d)(2) in its opposition brief. CP 439-43. In their reply, the O'Neills finally explained that they had made the legal determination that the CR 54(d)(2) 10-day deadline did not apply because the agreed "Judgment on Offer and Acceptance" lacked an RCW 4.64.030 judgment summary and was thus not a "judgment." CP 454. The O'Neills therefore chose not to file a

.

motion seeking to extend the 10-day deadline. CP 454. The O'Neills failed to tell the trial court, however, that the Supreme Court had already rejected this same argument and held the definition of "judgment in CR 58" and not RCW 4.64.030 controlled the issue of what qualified as a judgment for applying the court rules.²⁹

Finally, while continuing to assert that as a matter of law they did not need to meet the 10-day deadline,³⁰ the O'Neills claimed that the City's discovery requests would somehow justify their late filing. CP 455-56. As evidence, the O'Neills asserted the City "knew" it would not receive response in time to use the responses in its opposition had the O'Neills complied with CR 54(d)(2), and thus the discovery requests were a "sham." CP 455. This argument ignored the fact that the City had served the discovery 10 days³¹ before the Court had entered the Judgment,

²⁹ See Bank of America v. Owens, 173 Wn.2d 40, 51, 266 P.3d 211 (2011) (rejecting claim that valid judgment must comply with RCW 4.64.030).

 $^{^{30}}$ Even when pointing the finger at the City, the O'Neills made it clear that they had determined that CR 54(d)(2) did not apply. See CP 455 ("The fee motion did not need to be filed by 10/18/12, but even if it had ..."). This shows that the O'Neills' legal determination, and not any action by the City, was the cause of the missed deadline. Because the discovery did not cause the the neglect, it cannot amount to excusable or inexcusable neglect.

³¹ This was the earliest date the City could have sought discovery on attorney fees. Prior to the O'Neills' acceptance of the Offer of Judgment, only a partial summary judgment order had been entered, and the City had petitioned for discretionary review of that order. CP 30-40. The Supreme Court had vacated the earlier attorney fee award. *O'Neill II*, 170 Wn.2d at 152. Thus, until the Offer of Judgment was accepted, the City had consistently contested the O'Neills' right to fees and there was no reason or basis for the City seeking discovery on attorney fees.

when the City had no way of knowing whether it would receive responses in time, either because the entry of judgment was delayed or because the O'Neills could have provided their responses early.

3.2.5 <u>The Court Awards Attorney Fees and Refuses to</u> Address CR 54(d)(2)

The trial court held oral argument³² on attorney fees and entered an award in favor of the O'Neills without addressing the CR 54(d)(2) 10-day deadline. CP 504-507. It was not clear whether the trial court agreed RCW 4.64.030 applied, or it just chose to ignore the deadline for some other reason. Thus, the City made a second request for a ruling on CR 54(d)(2) in a motion for reconsideration, but the Court summarily denied reconsideration. CP 513-521, 533.

The City subsequently filed this appeal. CP 537-550.

4. ARGUMENT

The O'Neills failed to file their motion for attorney fees within 10 days after the entry of the judgment, as mandated by CR 54(d)(2). This failure was the result of legal error, and no motion to extend was filed that demonstrated excusable neglect, so the trial court lacked the discretion to award attorney's fees.

³² The significant delay in holding this hearing resulted for postponement by the trial court.

This result does not require a harsh interpretation of the court rules. The drafters of the court rule sought to balance the risk of waiver with the importance of deadlines by the inclusion of CR 6(b). This rule grants the trial court the authority to extend deadlines, even after those deadlines have passed, subject to two limitations: the party must file a motion for a retroactive extension and demonstrate its failure to comply with the deadline was caused by "excusable neglect."³³ CR 6(b)(2). Thus, the rules themselves provide a process and standard for balancing equities that may arise, giving trial courts broad but not unlimited discretion to avoid defaults.³⁴

To maintain that balance, this appeal requires the Court to vacate the attorney fee award. The O'Neills not only ignored the CR 54(d)(2) 10day deadline, they elected not to file a motion to seek relief under CR 6(b)(2) because they had made the legal determination that the 10-day deadline did not apply. Moreover, even had a motion been filed relying

³³ CR 6(b) provides:

⁽b) Enlargement. When by these rules or by a notice given thereunder or by order of court an act is required or allowed to be done at or within a specified time, the court for cause shown may at any time in its discretion, (1) with or without motion or notice, order the period enlarged if request therefor is made before the expiration of the period originally prescribed or as extended by a previous order or, (2) upon motion made after the expiration of the specified period, permit the act to be done where the failure to act was the result of excusable neglect; but it may not extend the time for taking any action under rules 50(b), 52(b), 59(d), and 60(b).

³⁴ The Rules of Appellate Procedure strike a different balance that gives the appellate courts broader discretion to forgive missed deadlines in the RAPs to avoid default but authorize the imposition of terms. RAP 1.2, 18.8.

on the proffered legal error, legal error cannot meet the standard of excusable neglect required for relief under CR 6(b).

Washington precedent and federal precedent both recognize that in situations such as this, which involve a mistaken legal interpretation of clearly worded rules and statutes, the failure to meet a deadline is inexcusable: "If a simple mistake made by counsel were to excuse an untimely filing, it would be hard to fathom the kind of neglect that we would not deem excusable." *Institute for Policy Studies v. CIA*, 246 F.R.D. 380, 383 (D.D.C. 2007) (quotations and alterations omitted); see *also Corey v. Pierce County*, 154 Wn. App. 2d 752, 773, 225 P.3d 367 (2010), review denied (successful plaintiff in employment actions waived right to attorney fees by missing 10-day deadline mandated by CR 54(d)(2)).

Here, the Court entered the agreed "Judgment on Offer and Acceptance" on October 9. Pursuant to CR 54(d)(2), the O'Neills had until October 19 to file their motion for attorney fees. They missed this deadline and waited an addition two weeks, until November 5, to file their motion for attorney fees. They did not seek a retroactive enlargement of time under CR 6(b)(2), nor did they make any showing of excusable neglect. Instead, their only argument demonstrates that they had made the determination, contrary to settled case law, that the court's entry of judgment in this case did not trigger the 10-day deadline.

If the deadlines in the Court Rules are to have any meaning, this type of run-of-the-mill legal error cannot be excused. Any other conclusion would require courts to excuse any missed deadline based simply on the assertion that the attorney did not think the deadline applied.

4.1 Commencement of the 10-Day Deadline in CR 54(d)(2)

The commencement of the CR 54(d)(2) 10-day dealing for filing an attorney fee is governed by unambiguous court rules.

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