70657-8

NO. 70657-8-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

BETH and DOUG O'NEILL,

Plaintiffs/Respondents

v.

CITY OF SHORELINE and MAGGIE FIMIA

Defendants/Appellants

CORRECTED BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS BETH AND DOUG O'NEILL

Michele Earl-Hubbard WSBA No. 26454 Allied Law Group LLC Attorneys for Respondents Beth and Doug O'Neill P.O. Box 33744 Seattle, WA 98133 (206) 443-0200 (Phone) (206) 428-7169 (Fax)



COURT OF APPEALS DIV I STATE OF WASHINGTON

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

Defendants further make no excuse for why the alleged "judgment" contained none of the typical criteria mandated by RCW 4.64.030. RCW 4.64.030(2)(a) makes clear a "judgment does not take effect" until the judgment has a summary in compliance with RCW 4.64.030. The **Owens** case on which Defendants rely does not change this fact. Owens dealt with the priority of liens on proceeds of real property and whether certain orders – all of which designated sums certain to be awarded to husband – were valid judgments to create liens even though they did not contain all of the provisions of the judgment summary. First, the **Owens** case did not deal with a claim that fees had to be brought within 10 days of the documents pursuant to CR 54(d)(2) so its weight in the CR 54(d)(2) context is doubtful. Further, the documents in **Owens** awarded the husband specific monetary amounts or specific enumerated property, not merely the right to receive fees and costs the amount of which would be determined after subsequent briefing and argument, the deadline for which was not stated. So the opinion's determination that certain of those documents were sufficient to create a lien and take priority over other judgments does not suggest that in the CR 54(d)(2) context every time a party slaps the word "Judgment" on an agreement to pay an undetermined amount of fees and costs that this creates an effective judgment triggering a 10 day deadline to submit the issue for the

determination of the amount of the award or forever lose the right to enforce the agreement to pay them. As with **Corey** Defendants seek to prove too much from a case that did not deal with a stipulated agreement, nor even the issue of deadlines and applicability of CR 54(d)(2).

E. Even if 10 Day Period Had Applied, Trial Court Had Discretion to Award Fees and Costs.

"Application of a court rule to a particular set of facts is a question of law reviewed de novo." Corey, 154 Wn. App. at 773. Courts interpret court rules using the rules of statutory construction. Wiley v. Rehak, 143 Wn.2d 339, 343, 20 P.3d 404 (2001). If the meaning is plain, courts follow that plain meaning. Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9–10, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). If the language has more than one reasonable interpretation, it is ambiguous (State v. Roggenkamp, 153 Wn.2d 614, 621, 106 P.3d 196 (2005)) and courts employ various rules of statutory interpretation to discern the drafters' intent. Whatcom Cnty. v. Bellingham, 128 Wn.2d 537, 546, 909 P.2d 1303 (1996). Courts construe a rule so as to effectuate that intent, avoiding a literal reading if it would result in unlikely, absurd, or strained consequences. Id.

CR 54(d)(2) states:

Claims for attorney's fees and expenses, other than costs and disbursements, shall be made by motion unless the substantive law governing the action provides for recovery of such fees and expenses as an element of damages to be proved at trial. Unless otherwise provided by statute or order of the court, the motion must be filed no later than 10 days after entry of judgment

CR 54(d)(2).

O'Neills included their claim for attorney's fees and costs in their motion for partial summary judgment filed in June 2012. The August 2, 2012, order granting summary judgment to O'Neills declared them the prevailing party entitled to their penalties, fees and costs and merely that the amounts would be determined after subsequent briefing and argument, and as revealed by the Final Judgment, with such subsequent briefing only required if the parties did not reach an agreement as to the amounts. The October 2012, "Judgment on Offer and Acceptance" confirmed O'Neills were awarded their fees and costs the amount of which would be determined after "subsequent briefing and argument." Thus the August 2, 2012, summary judgment Order and the October 2012, Agreed Order already declared O'Neills awarded their fees and costs and did not require a "motion" to secure such rights, only documentation to allow for a determination of amounts. The Orders further allowed for a time period other than 10 days for such submission. CR 54(d)(2) specifically provides the court with discretion to enlarge the 10 day time frame.

CR 6(b) addresses the court's discretion to extend such deadlines and provides rules for which the court may not enlarge such deadlines.

CR 6(b). CR 54(d) is not one of those rules. CR 6(b).

Further, the 10 day limit under CR 54(d)(2) is "intended to prevent parties from raising trial-level attorney fee issues very late in the appellate process, sometimes after one or all appellate briefs have been submitted." 4 Karl B. Tegland, Washington Practice: Rules Practice § 54, Supp. 40 (5th ed. 2006 & Supp. 2010) (drafters' comment on 2007 amendment to CR 54(d)(2)). The drafters also note the intent to harmonize the language of the applicable civil rules with each other and with the relevant statutes (particularly RCW 4.84.010, .030, .090). **Id.** It is unlikely the Washington Supreme Court contemplated the 10 day time limit as a means of denying the prevailing party the remedy to which they were entitled. See Mitchell v. Wash. State Inst. of Public Policy, 153 Wn. App. 803, 823, 225 P.3d 280 (2009) (discussing CR 78(e)) (absent clear language to the contrary, court would not apply rule mechanically to deprive a litigant of costs to which he is justly entitled or to enrich a litigant with costs he has unjustly secured), review denied, 169 Wn.2d 1012, 236 P.3d 205 (2010). When parties enter into a stipulated agreement wherein they agree to pay fee and costs as part of a stipulated judgment, no "motion" is necessary under CR 54(d)(2) as merely enforcement of the agreement is

necessary. It is unbelievable that the Washington State Supreme Court intended for CR 54(d)(2) to be used to allow parties to a stipulated judgment to avoid their contractual obligations if one side delayed more than 10 days submitting documentation of the fee and cost amount to the court.

Defendants argue a trial court cannot extend a time period without a separate written motion for extension filed and noted in accordance with CR 6(b). CR 54(d)(2) itself affords a court discretion to enlarge the 10 day time limit even if it applied (10 days "[u]nless otherwise provided by statute or order of the court"). CR 6(b) further confirms courts can enlarge a period of time for all but a few court rules. CR 6(b). CR 54(d)(2) is not among the list of rules for which a court cannot enlarge a period of time. CR 6(b).

Implicit in the trial court's ruling here is an extension of time to the extent required. First, the August 2, 2012, Order itself did not state a time period for the briefing and hearings for determinations of the fee, cost and penalty awards the Court stated the O'Neills were to be awarded. The August 2, 2012, Order stated only that the determination of the amount would be made after such "subsequent" briefing and argument.

The October 2012, Order also did not state a time period by which the briefing and hearing were to be held. It merely confirmed the Offer

and Acceptance language that such fees and costs would be awarded following such "subsequent briefing and argument."

In its Final Judgment in the summary laying forth the findings and summary of the events, the trial court made clear it had allowed time for the parties to reach an agreement as to the amounts of fees, costs and penalties and that briefing and hearing were to occur only if the parties could not reach an agreement as to amounts. The Court confirmed in the Final Judgment that the parties reached an agreement as to the amount of penalties but could not reach an agreement as to the amount of fees and costs and so the parties pursuant to the Court's October 2012, Order timely filed briefing for determination of those amounts.

Second, Defendants in their Response to the Motion for Determination of Amount of Fees and Costs argued the briefing was untimely and should be rejected, and O'Neills in their Reply requested an extension of time to file their briefing to the extent such an extension was deemed necessary and established excusable neglect and the reason for the delay. Defendants responded to this request and these arguments with a "Sur-Reply" and supporting declarations. Thus, even if an enlargement of time was deemed necessary by this Court, which the O'Neills contend it was not, the O'Neills adequately requested such an extension of time and proved excusable neglect. The trial court was afforded discretion to

enlarge the time for such submissions, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion agreeing to hear the matter or ruling for the O'Neills. The trial court heard the arguments of both parties and agreed to hear the matter and enforce the Agreed Order, rejecting the Defendants' plea to avoid their contractual obligations solely because the documentation was filed 25 days after the Agreed Order was signed rather than 10 days after the Agreed Order was signed.

Finally, a fees award was explicitly agreed to by the parties.

Defendants' interpretation of the rule would result in failure of the settlement agreement and the Agreed Order. They seek only to avoid paying fees they agreed to pay, not to return the parties to the status quo before the settlement. CR 54 was not intended to enable such an inequitable result.

O'Neills filed their briefing 25 days after the Agreed Order was signed, seven days after timely answering discovery issued by Defendants the day after the agreement was reached, and four days after Defendants informed O'Neills they did not really want discovery responses and alleged the briefing was past due. Defendants were afforded a response and a Sur-Reply, months of preparation for oral argument and lengthy oral argument. RP. The O'Neills' submission did not evade the intent of CR 54(d)(2) nor prejudiced the Defendants in any way. There was no error in

accepting the briefing and making the fee and cost determination as the October 2012 Order required.

On September 28, 2012, the day after the Agreed Order was reached and submitted to the court for approval, Defendants issued several pages of extensive and burdensome discovery requiring responses prior to the determination of the amount of fees and costs to be awarded. Responses were timely provided on October 29, 2012, with a request that the parties negotiate a protective order to allow production of certain privileged materials. Defendants did not respond until nearly 5 p.m. on Thursday, November 1, 2012, stating they did not actually want answers and alleging documentation for the fee award was past due. O'Neills' counsel realized the discovery issued by Defendants on September 28, 2012, had been a sham and had been issued not because the Defendants actually believed they were entitled to any of the materials sought but instead to delay the O'Neills' filing of the documentation for determination of the amount of their fee and cost award. Less than four days later, on Monday, November 5, 2012, O'Neills filed their more than 300 pages of documentation and noted the matter for hearing. O'Neills asked the court to grant an extension of time for the filing in the event an extension was required and established excusable neglect. It was not a "mistake" as Defendants allege, but a clear intent of the parties that

Defendants would pay the fees and costs and that the court would determine the amount regardless of whether or not the documentation was submitted in 10 days or 25 days of the Agreed Order and a clear understanding based on Defendants' issuance of discovery the day after the Agreed Order was sent to the court that there was not a deadline for the "subsequent briefing" and certainly not a 10 day deadline. Although O'Neills contend in light of the fact this was a contractual agreement being interpreted without a 10 day deadline included, the O'Neills requested an extension to the extent one was needed and established excusable neglect. It would be contrary to binding case law regarding the interpretation and enforcement of agreed orders and stipulated judgment if Defendants were allowed to avoid their contractual obligations based on the CR 54(d)(2) arguments they have made here based on this record.

F. Defendants and their Counsel Engaged in Dishonest, Unethical and Fraudulent Behavior, and Plaintiffs' Delay to Respond to Discovery Was Proper and is Further Support if Necessary of Excusable Neglect.

The facts of this case make clear the discovery issued by Shoreline and attorneys Collins and Ramerman were a sham. The requests sought material no reasonable attorney could have expected was discoverable, and they sought information the issuing attorney surely knew would involve extensive time to locate and produce. The O'Neills had been

represented initially by the law firm of Davis Wright Tremaine, a law firm with offices in numerous states and one foreign country employing several hundred lawyers and representing likely tens of thousands of clients. The O'Neills were later represented by the Law Offices of Michael Brannan and then Allied Law Group, both of which also had numerous clients, and for Allied, a number of lawyers. Defendants' discovery requests sought all fee agreements with all clients by all lawyers of these three law firms at any time during the six plus years involved in this litigation, all fee motions, responses, replies and orders for all clients of these firms during this same six plus year period, and numerous other details of the law firms' representations and fee arrangements with all of their other clients.

O'Neills current counsel and the O'Neills spent significant time pouring over communications to determine if responsive records had been shared with the O'Neills by the law firms such that they might arguably be responsive, although likely still privileged.

As the Defendants knew it would, the discovery put a hault to the documentation and briefing being prepared up through the day discovery was served and the documentation and briefing was not able to be filed until after discovery responses were timely produced 30 days later. Three days after discovery was provided, Collins wrote to O'Neills stating discovery was no longer required and that Defendants contended the fee

documentation was now past due and the fee and cost award to which

Defendants had agreed in the Agreed Order voided.

Defendants could have issued discovery at any time during the nearly two years the matter had been back at the trial court following remand, and certainly during the nearly two months time after the court granted summary judgment to O'Neills declaring them obliged to receive a fee and cost award. Defendants' claims they could not have submitted discovery any sooner than the day after submitting the Agreed Order to the court for approval is not credible or logical. Defendants clearly sought to negotiate a contract and Agreed Order they had no intention of performing. The facts of this case establish excusable neglect and a basis to enforce the Agreed Order and to have considered the November 5, 2012, submission. This appeal and the Defendants' arguments to void their contractual obligations have no merit. The appeal is but a waste of the parties' and court's resources and time.

This Court can assess the believability, or lack thereof, of the excuses given by Defendants for their delay in issuing discovery and their alleged interpretation of the contract they negotiated and its requirements. This Court can and should be troubled at the behavior of Defendants in their negotiation of the Agreed Order, dealings with the trial court, and now dealings with this Court. Counsels' conduct herein violates RAP

18.9 and merits an imposition of sanctions. Defendants' counsel further merit a referral to the Washington State Bar Association Disciplinary Counsel for investigation of their conduct and violations of the Rules of Professional Conduct in connection with this litigation.

G. Defendants Have Waived All Claims as to Amount of Fees or Costs, and Thus No Reduction is Proper.

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